

Salt as a Vehicle for Fortification

Report of a WHO Expert Consultation



Salt as a Vehicle for Fortification

Report of a WHO Expert Consultation

Luxembourg 21-22 March 2007



WHO Library Cataloguing-in-Publication Data

WHO expert consultation on salt as a vehicle for fortification, Luxembourg, 21-22 March 2007.

Sodium chloride, Dietary - therapeutic use.
Iodine - deficiency.
Deficiency diseases - prevention and control.
Cardiovascular diseases - prevention and control.
Hypertension - prevention and control.
Health policy.
World Health Organization.

ISBN 978 92 4 159678 7

(NLM classification: QV 283)

© World Health Organization 2008

All rights reserved. Publications of the World Health Organization can be obtained from WHO Press, World Health Organization, 20 Avenue Appia, 1211 Geneva 27, Switzerland (tel.: +41 22 791 3264; fax: +41 22 791 4857; e-mail: bookorders@who.int). Requests for permission to reproduce or translate WHO publications – whether for sale or for noncommercial distribution – should be addressed to WHO Press, at the above address (fax: +41 22 791 4806; e-mail: permissions@who.int).

The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the World Health Organization concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by the World Health Organization in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by the World Health Organization to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall the World Health Organization be liable for damages arising from its use.

This publication contains the collective views of an international group of experts and does not necessarily represent the decisions or the policies of the World Health Organization.

Cover illustration by Victoria Menezes Miller Printed in Switzerland

Contents

1.	Background	1
2.	Public health significance of cardiovascular diseases and iodine	
	deficiency disorders throughout the world	3
	2.1. Magnitude	3
	2.2. Dietary salt intake, blood pressure and cardiovascular disease	4
	2.3. Iodine deficiency and salt iodization	6
	2.4. Dietary salt reduction and salt iodization	6
3.	Salt as a vehicle for fortification	8
	3.1. Iodized salt	8
	3.2. Other vehicles for iodine fortification	9
	3.3. Monitoring	10
4.	Integrating public health policies for the prevention and control of	
	CVD and IDD	12
5.	Recommendations	15
6.	References	18
7.	List of participants	24

1. Background

A WHO Forum and Technical Meeting on Reducing Salt Intake in Populations was organized in October 2006 in Paris, France with the overall goal of developing recommendations for Member States and other stakeholders on how to reduce the salt intake of populations with the long-term goal of preventing chronic diseases (WHO, 2007). The experts participating in this meeting recommended WHO to further discuss the use of salt as a vehicle for iodine fortification, as this could originate a potential conflict between two major public health goals – reducing average population salt intake, and tackling iodine deficiency.

As a follow-up of the meeting in Paris, WHO organized an Expert Consultation on salt as vehicle for fortification. This Consultation was convened by WHO Headquarters jointly with the WHO Regional Office for Europe, with the support of the Ministry of Health of Luxembourg, and took place in Luxembourg on 21-22 March 2007.

The overall goal of the Expert Consultation was to discuss how to reconcile the policy of reducing salt consumption to prevent chronic diseases and the policy of universal salt iodization (USI) to eliminate iodine deficiency.

The specific objectives of the meeting were to review and discuss:

- the benefits and disadvantages of using salt as a vehicle for micronutrient fortification;
- the public health significance of mild-to-moderate iodine deficiency;
- the public health significance of cardiovascular disease;
- the impact of the message «Use iodized salt» on the overall salt consumption of the population;
- the best way to deliver to the public a message addressing both the reduction of salt consumption and the consumption of iodized salt.

On the first day of the meeting, presentations were made by experts

addressing the following topics: public health significance of mild-to-moderate iodine deficiency; public health significance of cardiovascular diseases and excessive salt consumption; advantages and disadvantages of using salt as a vehicle for micronutrient fortification; and country experiences on reducing salt intake policies and USI interventions (Switzerland, Finland, China, Costa Rica and Poland).

After the presentations, the participants were divided into working groups to discuss three main topics: evidence of iodine deficiency disorders (IDD) and cardiovascular diseases (CVD) as major public health problems; salt as a vehicle for fortification; and how to integrate policies to reduce salt consumption and promote USI. On the second day, a plenary session was organized. The groups presented the results of their work, and these results were discussed and used as the basis to make recommendations along with the plenary presentations by the experts.

2. Public health significance of cardiovascular diseases and iodine deficiency disorders throughout the world

2.1. Magnitude

- CVD are the leading cause of death, responsible for 30% of all deaths globally. They also contribute 10% to the global disease burden (WHO 2005).
- Worldwide, 7.1 million (13%) of deaths are estimated to be associated with high blood pressure (>115 mmHg systolic blood pressure). About one third of disability adjusted life years (DALY) attributable to high blood pressure occur in developed countries, one third in developing countries with a high mortality rate and one third in developing countries with a low mortality rate. Thus strategies for blood pressure control are a public health priority around the world and not just in developed countries (WHO, 2002).
- Iodine deficiency is one of the world's most important nutritional deficiencies, and produces a spectrum of disorders impaired cognitive development and function; hypothyroidism; congenital abnormalities; cretinism and endemic goitre known as IDD (WHO, UNICEF, ICCIDD, 2007). These disorders are endemic in many countries around the world. Iodine deficiency affects one third of the global population, including 260 million school-age children. Although pockets of severe iodine deficiency is of mild-to-moderate severity. More than half of the population in Western and Central Europe is at risk of iodine deficiency, and about one fourth of the countries where iodine deficiency is a public health problem still have weak or non-existent public health programmes to address this problem (Delange F and Zimmerman M, 2004).

2.2 Dietary salt intake, blood pressure and cardiovascular disease

- There is a significant variation in the levels of salt consumption between countries, and also significantly different patterns of consumption. In European and North American countries, about 70-80% of sodium consumed comes from processed foods, restaurant services and catering.
- In Asian as well as in many African countries, salt added in cooking and present in sauces and seasonings still represents the major source of sodium in the diet.
- High levels of dietary salt intake have been associated with high blood pressure, with a higher prevalence of hypertension and a greater rise in blood pressure with age both within and between populations (INTER-SALT Cooperative Group, 1988). These observations suggest a direct link between the levels of salt intake and high blood pressure and the prevalence of hypertension. The body of evidence linking salt intake to blood pressure comes from a variety of studies: animal, ecological, epidemiological and clinical including randomized control trials.
- The consensus is that by lowering salt intake blood pressure is lowered. The blood pressure-lowering effect is dependent on the degree of reduction of dietary salt intake (He FJ and MacGregor GA, 2003). This effect is dose-dependent (Cook NR et al, 2005) and does not present a threshold effect (Sacks FM et al, 2001; MacGregor GA et al, 1989), at least within the ranges tested in clinical trials (as low as 3 g of salt per day). The higher the starting blood pressure, the greater the effect (He FJ and MacGregor GA, 2003; Cappuccio et al, 1997). In older people (Cappuccio et al, 1997) and in those of black African origin (Bray GA et al, 2004), this effect is sustained over many years (TOHP I, 1992; TOHP II, 1997; Kumanyika SK et al, 2005).
- This evidence has led to the suggestion that, if sustained over many years and applied to populations, a reduction in salt intake would lead to a reduction in the incidence of cardiovascular outcomes (coronary events, strokes, cardiac and renal failure) with a significant reduction in the burden of cardiovascular disease worldwide (He FJ & MacGregor GA, 2003).

2. PUBLIC HEALTH SIGNIFICANCE

The argument is strengthened by the concept that the majority of cardiovascular events attributable to blood pressure would occur in those with a moderately raised blood pressure, representing the majority of the cases, for whom drug therapy would not be recommended by national and international guidelines (WHO/ISH Hypertension Guideline 2003; Murray C et al, 1997).

- A few prospective studies (Sasaki S, Zhang X-H, Kesteloot H, 1995; He J et al, 1999; Tuomilehto J et al, 2001; Nagata C et al, 2004) have indicated a direct relationship between the levels of salt intake and the incidence of fatal and non-fatal cardiovascular events. One study has raised concerns about possible adverse effects of low salt intake on cardiovascular outcomes (Alderman MH et al, 1995; Alderman MH et al, 1998; Alderman MH, 2004; Cohen HW et al, 2006). The results and the analysis of this study, however, have been challenged as flawed.
- A recent report from the Trials of Hypertension Prevention I and II (TOHP I, 1992; TOHP II, 1997) has shown a significant 30% reduction in the 10-15 year incidence of cardiovascular events amongst participants originally randomized into the sodium reduction arms of the above trials for a period between 18 months and 36-48 months (Cook NR et al, 2007).
- The efficacy of reduced sodium intake in lowering blood pressure is well established. An average reduction of 77 mmol/day in dietary intake of sodium has been shown to reduce systolic blood pressure by 1.9 mmHg and diastolic blood pressure by 1.1 mmHg.
- A modest, long-term reduction in population salt intake has the potential to reduce stroke deaths by about 14% and coronary deaths by about 9% in people with hypertension, and by approximately 6% and 4%, respectively, in those with normal blood pressure.
- On the basis of the above evidence, current recommendations on salt intake for the prevention of cardiovascular disease is <5 g (90 mmol) per day or, for persons with high blood pressure, African Americans, and middle-aged or older adults, <1500 mg of sodium per day (WHO/ FAO 2003; USDA Guidelines for Americans 2005; AHA Guidelines, 2007,

WHO Guidelines 2007).

2.3 Iodine deficiency and salt iodization

- Iodine deficiency is the result of insufficient dietary iodine intake.
- At the population level, the best indicator of iodine status is median urinary iodine (UI) excretion. It is an indicator of recent dietary intake and is used as criteria to define the severity of iodine deficiency (WHO/UNICEF/ ICCIDD, 2007).
- The physiological consequence of iodine deficiency is hypothyroidism. The health effects of iodine deficiency vary according to the stage of the life cycle, including reproductive failure (e.g. infertility, stillbirth etc.), infant mortality, pregnancy and fetal mental retardation, cretinism, fetal and postnatal growth retardation, impaired cognition (e.g. reduced IQ), and endemic goitre, including toxic nodular goitre.
- Iodine-induced hyperthyroidism (IIH) is a result of an excessive intake of iodine, which affects mainly (but not only) older people with nodular goitres (Delange F, 1998) and it has been reported in almost all iodine supplementation programmes. The risk of hyperthyroidism is increased for UI concentrations above a median of 200 ug/l in susceptible individuals like those with pre-existing nodular goitre, and depends on the rapidity of the increase in iodine intake and the severity of pre-existing iodine deficiency.
- The prevention of IDD is possible with the addition of iodine to the diet. Of the various methods used to add iodine to the diet, fortification of salt with iodine for human and animal consumption has been recommended and is being implemented worldwide (WHO/ICCIDD, 1995; WHO, 1999).

2.4 Dietary salt reduction and salt iodization

Current recommendations indicate that in order to prevent chronic diseases, the population average consumption of salt should be <5 g/day (<2 g/day of sodium) (WHO, 1983; WHO/FAO, 2003).

2. PUBLIC HEALTH SIGNIFICANCE

- Some countries have set quantitative recommendations limiting the daily salt intake converging with the international recommendations of <5 g of salt per day. These national recommendations have been aimed at the general public and manufacturers, and few countries have taken action to translate these recommendations into policies and programmes.
- Few countries, like the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland and the DACH countries (Germany, Austria and Switzerland) have separate recommendations for children and adolescents.
- Recommended daily iodine intakes are set at 250 µg/day for pregnant and lactating women, 90 µg/day for children <6 year of age, 120 µg/day for children 6-12 years of age and 150 µg/day for children >12 years of age and nonpregnant, nonlactating adults. Such intakes in children >12 years of age and in nonpregnant adults should result in a median urinary iodine of 100-200 µg/l and in pregnant women, in a median urinary iodine of 150-250 µg/l (Andersen S et al, 2001; Hess SY et al, 1999; Hollowell JG et al. 1998).
- As the most devastating consequences of iodine deficiency occur during intrauterine development and in the first few months of life, adequate iodine nutrition in pregnant women and in infants and young children is fundamental.

3. Salt as a vehicle for fortification

3.1 Iodized salt

- Salt is the most widely used food vehicle for iodine fortification. USI, that is iodization of all salt for human (food industry and household) and livestock consumption, is the strategy recommended by WHO for the control of iodine deficiency (WHO, 1999). Salt iodization programmes are currently implemented in over 70 countries around the world where IDD is a public health problem (Delange F, et al, 1999).
- The choice of salt as the preferred vehicle for the delivery of iodine is based on the following factors: salt is one of the few commodities consumed by everyone; consumption is fairly stable throughout the year; salt production is usually limited to a few geographical areas; salt iodization technology is easy to implement and available at a reasonable cost throughout the developing world; the addition of iodine to salt does not affect its colour, taste or odour; the quality of iodized salt can be monitored at the production, retail and household levels (Allen L, et al, 2006).
- Some obstacles to the implementation of USI are: difficulties in enforcing legislation on iodized salt; problems caused by having a high number of small-scale salt producers and the absence of an effective operational monitoring system; the lack of monitoring of the salt quality may result in variations in the iodine content of salt, inadequate supply of fortificants, inadequate supply and use of iodized versus noniodized salt, and population levels of salt intake (measured versus estimated) (Allen L, et al, 2006). These are important to understand given the risk of iodine-induced hyperthyroidism (Stanbury JB, et al, 1998).
- The current recommendation that salt be fortified with iodine at a level of 20-40 ppm is based on the assumption of an average salt intake of 10 g per day at the population level. This assumption may no longer be valid because salt intakes in populations may vary substantially between countries (INTERSALT Cooperative Group, 1988) and the level of intake is being

reduced as a result of public health policies aiming to attain the population average intake of 5 g of salt per day (WHO, 2007). The level of iodine fortification may need to be adjusted by national authorities responsible for the implementation and monitoring of USI in light of their own data regarding dietary salt intake. The national level of average salt consumption must provide key guidance for the concentration of iodine in salt.

• The large diversity in national circumstances and public health goals has resulted in the development of many different approaches to the regulation of food fortification. In most industrialized countries, food fortification parameters are established by law or through cooperative arrangements. In many developing countries, the role of the government in regulating food fortification may not be predominantly enforced. Since it is the role of the government to protect the public's health, it is generally recommended that all forms of food fortification be appropriately regulated in order to ensure the safety of all consumers and provide the maximum benefit to the target groups (Allen L, et al, 2006).

3.2 Other vehicles for iodine fortification

- Alternatives to the use of salt for the delivery of iodine to populations include: bread, water, milk, and possibly edible oil and wheat flour.
- From a technical point of view, adding iodized baker's salt to bread has been shown to be an effective way of ensuring a constant supply of dietary iodine in countries where bread is staple food. However, limitations for the worldwide use of bread as a preferred vehicle include: non-centered chain of production for bread, which makes it difficult to monitor fortification processes and levels in the final product; wide variations in bread consumption at the population level; great variety of breads offered to the population (Allen L, et al, 2006).
- Because water is consumed daily, it too has the potential to be a useful vehicle for iodine fortification. Its major limitation, compared with salt, is that sources of drinking water are so numerous and ubiquitous that iodi-

zation would be difficult to control. Moreover, iodine has limited stability in water (no longer than 24 hours) such that continuous daily dosing of the water supply would be necessary. A review of the efficacy and costeffectiveness of the different procedures used to iodize water concluded that while efficacious for the most part, there is no doubt that the cost, and the monitoring systems needed, are more problematic than those required for iodized salt. Although the use of water as a vehicle for iodine fortification is technically more difficult than the use of salt, there are certain conditions where water iodization could be a suitable method for the correction of iodine deficiency and some countries have successfully used it [e.g. Thailand (northern), the Central African Republic, Mali, Sudan, Malaysia, and Italy (Sicily)] (Allen L, et al, 2006).

 Iodine in milk, either added by providing extra iodine to dairy cows or adventitiously through use of iodine-containing cleaning agents has been instrumental in the control of iodine deficiency in several areas/countries (e.g. Northern Europe, the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, the United States of America). However, the variability in the amount of milk consumed by the population does not make it a suitable vehicle for iodine fortification.

3.3 Monitoring

- In view of the salt reduction programme to prevent cardiovascular diseases, the surveillance of iodine status is reinforced as an important tool. However, no available monitoring of salt intake and blood pressure is currently in place.
- Ideally, salt intake should be estimated initially by measuring sodium excretion in 24-hour urine collections in a representative subsample of the population stratified by sex and age. This will give absolute estimates of baseline salt intakes for comparison across different population groups and different regions. The 24-hour urine collections are considered the "gold standard" method to measure sodium (salt) intake as they can capture 85-90% of the ingested sodium. This method presents the advantage

of not being affected by subjective reporting of dietary intakes, but shows some limitations: high participant burden; problems of completeness; collection must be accurately timed to avoid over- and under-collection.

- In addition to a 24-hour urine collection, several methods can be used to estimate salt intake: duplicate diets, dietary surveys and spot urine collections. But these present significant limitations.
- The use of median UI and 10th and 90th percentiles of the distribution may improve the interpretation of iodine status, in particular the potential impact of excessive iodine provision.

4. Integrating public health policies for the prevention and control of CVD and IDD

- To reconcile the existing WHO policies aimed at reducing the intake of salt and delivering adequate dietary iodine to populations, it is necessary to consider the concentration level of iodine in salt that would provide sufficient iodine, given salt intakes <5 g/day, or lower, as recommended. Because iodization methods permit adequate concentrations of iodine to provide recommended levels within this range of salt intake, these two policies are not in direct conflict.
- The interaction with food manufacturers is fundamental to the success of salt reduction strategies and to USI. Food industries should be encouraged to harmonize the salt content of their products according to the lowest threshold possible to avoid unnecessary variations in salt content of the same food product commercialized in different countries. In addition, the use of iodized salt in countries implementing USI should be considered.
- The current recommended strategy for IDD control is based on correcting this nutritional deficiency by increasing iodine intake through food fortification. Salt is the most commonly used vehicle for this purpose. In order to meet iodine requirements of a population it has been previously recommended to add 20-40 ppm iodine to salt, assuming an average salt intake of 10 g per capita per day (WHO, 1996). This figure of 10 g per day may no longer be valid and the recommendation will need to be adjusted if the goal to reduce average population salt intakes to <5 g/day is achieved.
- Following WHA resolutions 57.17 and 58.60, the recommendation of the report of the WHO Forum and Technical Consultation in Paris of 5-7 October 2007, on Reducing Salt Intake in Populations, the report of the Joint WHO/UNICEF committee, further WHO publications (WHO, 1982; WHO, 1983; WHO/FAO, 2003; WHO 2005, WHO, 2007) and given the desirability of ensuring maximum health benefits for all, the recommended

average consumption of <5 g/day of salt (<2 g of sodium), except where lower levels have already been set, it is reaffirmed that all salt intended for food consumption should be iodized.

- USI is a very cost effective, feasible and sustainable method of preventing iodine deficiency, but it is fundamental to recognize that specific population groups (e.g. pregnant women and children) may also need to be targeted in other ways for the adequate consumption of iodine (e.g. potassium iodide tablets or iodized oil).
- The iodine concentration in salt should be determined considering both the level of salt consumption and median UI of the population.
- Monitoring of UI through existing programs is essential. Countries need to periodically adjust the levels of iodine fortification within the goal of salt consumption <5 g/day, depending on their own local data.
- Monitoring UI is also of value to detect a median UI >200 μ g/l and therefore prevent any risk of iodine excess by adjusting the level of iodine for-tification accordingly.
- Policies for salt iodization and reduction of salt to <5 g/day are compatible, cost effective and of great public health benefit. At the country level, close collaboration between salt iodization and salt reduction programs as a coalition is urgently required so that their aims are congruent.
- Ministries of health should make sure that the message to consume iodized salt does not promote excessive salt consumption and does not conflict with salt reduction policies.
- Advocacy with policy makers will be necessary for implementation and appropriate legislation and regulation on salt iodization and salt reduction.
- Fortification of salt is currently the most feasible approach for the elimination of IDD, but research is needed to identify other possible vehicles for delivering iodine.

• Best practices from countries that have developed both salt reduction and iodization policies should be considered when ministries of health are developing and implementing policies with similar goals.

5. Recommendations

- The participants of the Expert Consultation agreed on the statements and recommendations given below:
- National policies should commit to reducing the average salt consumption of the adult population to <5 g/day, except where lower levels have already been set. Policy makers should develop a clear strategy to achieve this goal. This should include measurable objectives, targets, indicators (including those for population subgroups), and a time frame for their accomplishment in the shortest possible time.
- The prevention of IDD is possible by increasing dietary iodine intake. Salt is the most widely used vehicle for iodine fortification. USI as the recommended strategy to control iodine deficiency is reaffirmed. Salt iodization programmes that are currently being successfully implemented in over 70 countries around the world should continue and be sustained.
- Policies for salt iodization and reduction of salt to <5 g/day are compatible, cost effective and of great public health benefit. At the country level, close collaboration between salt iodization and salt reduction programs as a coalition is urgently required so that their aims are congruent.
- Reliance on salt as a vehicle for the delivery of dietary iodine should not be used to justify promotion of salt intake to the public, and additional vehicles to salt for micronutrient fortification should continue to be explored.
- The current recommendation that salt be fortified with iodine at a level of 20-40 ppm is based on the assumption of an average salt intake of 10 g/day at the population level. This assumption may no longer be valid because salt intake in populations may vary substantially between countries and the level of intake is being reduced as a result of public health policies aiming to achieve a population average intake of 5 g of salt per day (WHO, 2007).

- The level of iodine fortification needs to be adjusted by national authorities responsible for the implementation and monitoring of USI in light of their own data regarding dietary salt intake. The average national level of salt consumption must provide key guidance for the concentration of iodine in salt.
- The iodine concentration in salt should be determined considering both the level of salt consumption and median UI of the population.
- Ministries of health should ensure that health promotion messages do not inadvertently promote excessive salt consumption. This should be clearly reflected in the development and implementation of policies to prevent iodine deficiency and promote reduced salt intake.
- Lessons from successful experiences in countries that have implemented both reduction of salt consumption and salt iodization policies should be considered when ministries of health plan to implement these policies.
- Advocacy from International Organizations (e.g. WHO, UNICEF, FAO), NGO's and academia with policy makers is recommended in order to promote the development and implementation of policies that aim both at safe salt iodization and effective reduction in salt intake.
- Food fortification, including salt iodization, should be appropriately regulated by governments to ensure that fortification is both safe and effective.
- Specific regulatory measures on the use of iodized salt intended to food producers and distributors should be taken by governments where the main source of dietary salt are processed foods and meals consumed outside the households.
- Multinational food industries are encouraged to harmonize the salt content of their products according to the lowest threshold possible to avoid unnecessary variations in salt content of the same food product commercialized in different countries.

- The benefits of correcting iodine deficiency far outweigh the potential risk of fortification. Iodine-induced hyperthyroidism and other potential adverse effects can be almost entirely avoided by adequate and sustained quality assurance and monitoring of iodine fortification.
- The use of salt as the vehicle for new fortification initiatives, other than iodine and fluoride, should be discouraged.
- The monitoring of salt quality is essential to ensure both efficacy and safety of the process of iodine fortification.
- Changes in population salt intakes need to be assessed over time via monitoring of urinary sodium excretion and, where appropriate, in conjunction with the established WHO programme for monitoring UI levels.
- Use of spot urine collections to monitor changes in salt intake over time should be considered as a possible alternative to repeated 24-hour urine collections to increase the feasibility of monitoring, despite expected requirements for substantially greater sample sizes with this approach.
- Where possible and the resources permit, blood pressure measurements should be added to the monitoring tools alongside iodine and sodium.

6. References

Alderman M H, Madhavan S, Cohen H, Sealey J E, Laragh J H. Low urinary sodium is associated with greater risk of myocardial infarction among treated hypertensive men. *Hypertension*, 1995, 25:1144-1152.

Alderman M H, Cohen H, Madhavan S. Dietary sodium intake and mortality: the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES I). *Lancet*, 1998, 351:781-785.

Alderman MH. Dietary Sodium and Cardiovascular Health in Hypertensive Patients: The Case against Universal Sodium Restriction. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology*, 2004, 15:S47-S50.

Allen L, de Benoist B, Dary O, Hurrell RF, eds. *Guidelines on food fortification with micronutrients*. Geneva, World Health Organization and Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations, 2006. (http://www.who.int/nutrition/publications/guide_food_fortification_micronutrients.pdf ; accessed 6th August 2007).

Andersen S, Pedersen KM, Pedersen IB, Laurberg PI. Variations in urinary iodine excretion and thyroid function. A 1-year study in healthy men. *European Journal of Endocrinology*, 2001, 144: 461–465.

American Heart Association Guideline. Evidence-Based Guidelines for Cardiovascular Disease Prevention in Women: 2007 Update. *Circulation*, 2007, 115:1481-1501.

Bray GA, Vollmer WM, Sacks FM, Obarzanek E, Svetkey LP, Appel LJ. A further subgroup analysis of the effects of the DASH diet and three dietary sodium levels on blood pressure: results of the DASH-Sodium Trial. *American Journal Cardiology*, 2004, 94: 222-227.

Cappuccio FP, Markandu ND, Carney C, Sagnella GA, MacGregor GA. Doubleblind randomised trial of modest salt restriction in older people. *Lancet;* 1997, 350:850-854.

Cook NR, Cutler JA, Obarzanek E, Buring JE, Rexrode KM, Kumanyika SK, Appel LJ, Whelton PK. Long term effects of dietary sodium reduction on cardiovascular disease outcomes: observational follow-up of the trials of hypertension prevention (TOHP). *British Medical Journal*, 2007, 334:885.

Cook NR, Kumanyika SK, Cutler JA, Whelton PK. Dose–response of sodium excretion and blood pressure change among overweight nonhypertensive adults in a 3-year dietary intervention study. *Journal of Human Hypertension*, 2005,19:47-54.

Cohen HW, Hailpern SM, Fang J, Alderman MH. Sodium intake and mortality in the NHANES II follow-up study. *American Journal of Medicine*, 2006, 119: 275 e7–14.

Delange F, de Benoist B, Alnwick D. Risks of iodine-induced hyperthyroidism after correction of iodine deficiency by iodized salt. *Thyroid*, 1999, 9:545-556.

Delange F. Zimmerman M. Iodine supplementation of pregnant women in Europe: a review and recommendations. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 2004, 58: 979-984.

Dietary Guidelines for Americans. US Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) and the US Department of Agriculture (USDA), 2005 (http://www.health.gov/dietaryguidelines/dga2005/document/pdf/DGA2005.pdf, accessed 7 December 2006).

He FJ, MacGregor GA. How far should salt intake be reduced? *Hypertension*, 2003, 424:1093-1099.

He J, Ogden LG, Vupputuri S, Bazzano LA, Loria C, Whelton PK. Dietary sodium intake and subsequent risk of cardiovascular disease in overweight adults. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 1999, 282:2027–2034.

Hess SY, Zimmermann MB, Staubli-Asobayire F, Tebi A, Hurrell RF. An evaluation of salt intake and iodine nutrition in a rural and urban area of the Côte d'Ivoire. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 1999, 53:680–686.

Hollowell JG, Staehling NW, Hannon WH, Flanders DW, Gunter EW, Maberly GF, Braverman LE, Pino S, Miller DT, Garbe PL, DeLozier DM, Jackson RJ. Iodine nutrition in the United States. Trends and public health implications: iodine excretion data from National Health and Nutrition Examination Surveys I and III (1971-74 and 1988-94). *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 1998, 83:3401–3408.

INTERSALT Cooperative Group. INTERSALT: an international study of electrolyte excretion and blood pressure. Results for 24 hour urinary sodium and potassium excretion. *British Medical Journal,* 1988, 297:319–328.

Kumanyika SK, Cook NR, Cutler JA, Belden L, Brewer A, Cohen JD, Hebert PR, Lasser VI, Raines J, Raczynski J, Shepek L, Diller L, Whelton PK, Yamamoto M. Sodium reduction for hypertension prevention in overweight adults: further results from the Trials of Hypertension Prevention Phase II. *Journal of Human Hypertension*, 2005, 19: 33-45.

MacGregor GA, Markandu ND, Sagnella GA, Singer DR, Cappuccio FP. Doubleblind study of three sodium intakes and long-term effects of sodium restriction in essential hypertension. *Lancet*, 1989, 2:1244–1247.

Murray C, Lopez A. Mortality by cause for eight regions of the world: Global Burden of Disease Study. *Lancet*, 1997, 349:1269–1276.

Nagata C, Takatsuka N, Shimizu N, Shimizu H. Sodium intake and risk of death from stroke in Japanese men and women. *Stroke*, 2004, 35:1543–1547.

Sacks FM, Svetkey LP, Vollmer WM, Appel LJ, Bray GA, Harsha D, Obarzanek E, Conlin PR, Miller ER, III, Simons-Morton DG, Karanja N, Lin PH. Effects on blood pressure of reduced dietary sodium and the Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension (DASH) diet. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 2001, 344:3–10.

Sasaki S, Zhang X-H, Kesteloot H. Dietary sodium, potassium, saturated fat, alcohol and stroke mortality. *Stroke*, 1995, 26:783-789.

Trials of Hypertension Prevention Collaborative Research Group (TOHP I). The effects of non pharmacologic interventions on blood pressure of persons with high normal levels. Results of the trials of hypertension prevention, phase I. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 1992, 267: 1213-1220.

Trials of Hypertension Prevention Collaborative Research Group (TOHP II). Effects of weight loss and sodium reduction intervention on blood pressure and hypertension incidence in overweight people with high normal blood pressure. The trials of hypertension prevention, phase II. The trials of hypertension prevention collaborative research group. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 1997, 157:657-667.

Tuomilehto J, Jousilahti P, Rastenyte D, Moltchanov V, Tanskanen A, Pietinen P, Nissinen A. Urinary sodium excretion and cardiovascular mortality in Finland: a prospective study. *Lancet*, 2001, 357:848–851.

UNICEF/ World Health Organization Joint Committee on Health Policy. *World summit for children – mid-decade goal: iodine deficiency disorders*. UNICEF/ WHO, Special Session, Geneva, 1994 (JCHPSS/94/2.7). (http://www.sph.emo-ry.edu/PAMM/IDD/jointdoc.pdf ; accessed 9th August 2007).

Whitworth JA, World Health Organization, International Society of Hypertension Writing Group. 2003 World Health Organization (WHO)/ International Society of Hypertension (ISH) statement on management of hypertension. *Journal of Hypertension*, 2003, 21:1983-1992. World Health Organization. *Prevention of cardiovascular diseases. Guidelines for assessment and management of cardiovascular risk.* World Health Organization, 2007.

World Health Organization. *Reducing Salt intake in populations. Report of a WHO Forum and Technical Meeting.*" Geneva, World Health Organization, 2007. (http://www.who.int/dietphysicalactivity/Salt_Report_VC_april07.pdf, assessed on 16th April 2007).

World Health Organization. *Preventing chronic diseases: a vital investment*. Geneva, World Health Organization, 2005.

World Health Organization. *The World Health Report. Reducing risks and promoting healthy life.* Geneva, World Health Organization, 2002: 1-248.

World Health Organization, UNICEF, International Council for the Control of Iodine Deficiency Disorders. *Recommended iodine levels in salt and guidelines for monitoring their adequacy and effectiveness*. Geneva, World Health Organization, 1996 (WHO/NUT/96.13).

World Health Organization. *Primary prevention of essential hypertension: report of a WHO scientific group.* Geneva, World Health Organization, 1983 (WHO Technical Report Series, No 686).

World Health Organization Expert Committee on the Prevention of Coronary Heart Disease. *Prevention of coronary heart disease*. Geneva, World Health Organization, 1982 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 678).

World Health Organization. *Diet, nutrition and the prevention of chronic diseases. Report of a Joint WHO/FAO Expert Consultation.* Geneva, World Health Organization, 2003 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 916).

World Health Organization, UNICEF, International Council for the Control of lodine Deficiency Disorders. *Assessment of iodine deficiency disorders and monitoring their elimination: a guide to programme managers.* Geneva, World Health Organization, 2007.

World Health Organization, International Council for the Control of Iodine Deficiency Disorders. *Salt iodization for the elimination of iodine deficiency*. Geneva, World Health Organization, 1995.

World Health Organization. *Progress towards the elimination of iodine deficiency disorders (IDD).* Geneva, World Health Organization, 1999 (WHO/ NHD/99.4).

7. List of participants

Bruno de Benoist Department of Nutrition for Health and Development World Health Organization Geneva, Switzerland

Francesco Branca Regional Office for Europe World health Organization Copenhagen, Denmark

Vanessa Candeias Department of Chronic Diseases and Health Promotion World Health Organization Geneva, Switzerland

Francesco Cappuccio University of Warwick Coventry, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

Zu-pei Chen Regional Coordinator for China and Eastern Asia, Director, Institute of Endocrinology, Tianjin Medical University, Tianjin, People's Republic of China

Omar Dary The USAID Micronutrient Leadership and Support and Child Blindness Activity Academy for Educational Development (AED) Washington, United States of America

7. LIST OF PARTICIPANTS

Pieter Jooste Nutritional Intervention Research Unit Cape Town, South Africa

Darwin Labarthe Division of Adult and Community Health, Cardiovascular Health Policy and Research, Centers for Disease Control Atlanta, United States of America

Liu Lisheng National Center Cardiovascular Diseases, Fu Wai Hospital Beijing, People's Republic of China

Nune Mangasaryan Nutrition Section UNICEF New York, United States of America

Joel Menard (Chairman) Department of Public Health and Medical Computer Sciences Faculty of Medicine René Descartes Paris, France

Shanthi Mendis Department of Chronic Diseases and Health Promotion World Health Organization Geneva, Switzerland

Pirjo Pietinen National Public Health Institute Helsinki, Finland

Cathy Rompelberg RIVM, Centre for Nutrition and Health, Bilthoven, The Netherlands

Barbara Rose Unité de la Direction de Protection des Consommateurs Département fédéral de l'Intérieur (DFI) Office fédéral de la Santé publique (OFSP) Libefeld, Switzerland

Mary Tere Salas Coordinator of the Salt Fluoridation Program Costa Rica INCIENSA Cartago, Costa Rica

Zbigniew Szybinski Department of Endocrinology Jagiellonian University, Medical College Krakow, Poland

Ursula Truebswasser Regional Office for Europe World Health Organization Copenhagen, Denmark

Yolande Wagener Ministry of Health, Luxembourg, Luxembourg

Judith Whitworth John Curtin School of Medical Research Australian National University Canberra, ACT, Australia

7. LIST OF PARTICIPANTS

Michael Zimmerman Laboratory of Human Nutrition Swiss Federal Institute of Technology Zürich, Switzerland

Department of Nutrition for Health and Development Department of Chronic Disease and Health Promotion World Health Organization

